IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA : CRI M NAL ACTI ON
. :
NAI M PRYOR : NO. 03-349-1
MEMORANDUM
Bartle, C. J. April 23, 2008

Before the court is the notion of Naim Pryor for
nodi fication of sentence pursuant to 18 U. S.C. 8§ 3582(c)(2).

On May 27, 2003, Pryor was charged in an indictnent
with: (1) one count of conspiracy to possess with intent to
distribute controlled substances, nanely, cocai ne base ("crack
cocai ne"), heroin, cocaine, and marijuana, in violation of 21
U S.C. 8 846; (2) one count of possession with intent to
di stribute crack cocaine, and the aiding and abetting thereof, in
violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C, and 18 U.S.C. § 2;
(3) one count of possession with intent to distribute heroin, and
the aiding and abetting thereof, in violation of 21 U. S. C
8§ 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(O, and 18 U.S.C. §8 2; (4) one count of
possession with intent to distribute cocaine, and the aiding and
abetting thereof, in violation of 21 U S.C. § 841(a)(1),
(b)(1)(©, and 18 U.S.C. §8 2; (5) one count of possession with
intent to distribute marijuana, and the aiding and abetting
thereof, in violation of 21 U . S.C. § 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(D, and 18

US. C 8 2; (6) one count of possession of a firearmby a



convicted felon, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1); and (7)
one count of using or carrying a firearmin furtherance of a drug
trafficking crime, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 924(c)(1). The
government filed a pre-trial notice of prior convictions under 21
U S.C 8 851 setting forth two qualifying prior felony drug
convictions. On June 24, 2004, a jury found Pryor guilty of al
counts charged in the indictnment.

Comput ation of Pryor's sentence, which was done using
t he Novenber 1, 2002 edition of the Cuidelines Manual, was
conpl ex. The procedure for determning the offense | evel of a
def endant convicted of nultiple counts requires formation of
"Groups of Closely Related Counts” under U S.S.G § 3D1. The
court arrives at a "conbined offense level"” by taking the of fense
| evel associated with the nost serious Goup and addi ng
additional |evels based on the conparative seriousness of the
other G oups. In this case, the nost serious "G oup" consisted
solely of Count Six, under which Pryor was convicted of
possession of a firearmby a convicted felon. This carried an
adj usted offense level of 26.' For the second Group, the court
merged the five drug possession counts into a single violation of
21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a). Based on a "nmarijuana equivalent" drug
wei ght of 55.8 kilograns, the resulting offense |evel for the
grouped drug offenses was 20. Section 3Dl1.4 nandated the

addition of one offense level to that of the nobst serious G oup

1. Two offense |levels were added to the base offense | evel of 24
because the firearm had an obliterated serial nunber.
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where the offense | evel of the second G oup was five to eight
| evel s bel ow the hi ghest group. Here that resulted in a conbi ned
of fense | evel of 27

Pryor's two previous drug convictions placed himin
crimnal history category |11, which, along with an offense | evel
of 27, would have put himw thin a guidelines range of 87 to 108
nmont hs' inprisonnent. However, Pryor's conviction under 8§ 924(c)
of using a firearmin furtherance of a drug trafficking offense
carried a mandatory m ni mum consecutive sentence of at |east 60
nmonths. 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1)(A) (i), (c)(1)(D(ii). Absent the
"career offender" designation discussed bel ow, Pryor would have
faced a sentencing range of 147-168 nonths.

Pryor's two previous felony drug convictions qualified
himas a "career offender.” U S.S.G 8 4Bl.1(a). His crimna
hi story category was imedi ately elevated to level VI. Id.
8§ 4Bl1.1(b). Because several of the drug offenses of which he had
j ust been convicted carried a maxi mum sentence of nore than 25
years in prison, his offense |level was increased to 34,2 which
called for a guidelines range of 262 to 327 nonths' inprisonment.
Id. This, however, was not the end of the matter. The

conbi nation of Pryor's "career offender"” status and his

2. A conviction for possession with intent to distribute smal
anounts of crack cocaine, cocaine, or heroin typically carries a
maxi mum sent ence of twenty years' inprisonnent. 21 U S.C

8§ 841(b)(1)(C). However, because Pryor conmmitted of fenses under
t hat subsection "after a prior conviction for a felony drug

of fense ha[d] becone final," he faced a maxi mum sent ence of
thirty years' inprisonnment on each offense under 8§ 841(b)(1) (0
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af orenenti oned conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) produced a
gui del i nes range of 360 nonths to |life in prison on that count
alone. U S S.G 8§ 4Bl.1(c).

At sentencing on January 28, 2005, the court found that
the "career offender” designation substantially over-represented
t he seriousness of Pryor's crimnal history. On that basis, the
court invoked U.S.S.G § 4Al.3(b) to depart downward and apply a

crimnal history category of Ill1. See United States v. Shoupe,

988 F.3d 440 (3d Gir. 1993). This caused no change to Pryor's
gui del i nes range of 360 nonths to |ife in prison because U S. S. G
8§ 4Bl.1(c), which was applicable to Pryor's conviction under 18
U S.C 8 924(c), does not take into account a defendant's
crimnal history category. Nonethel ess, based on the then-recent

decision of the United States Suprenme Court in United States v.

Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005), the court handed down a non-
gui del i nes sentence of 120 nonths on the drug and 8 922(g) counts
and a mandat ory m ni mum consecuti ve sentence of 60 nonths for the
8§ 924(c) offense for a total of 180 nonths' inprisonment.

Qur Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction on

Novenber 2, 2006. United States v. Pryor, 195 Fed. App'x 65 (3d
Cir. 2006).%® The United States Suprene Court denied Pryor's
petition for a wit of certiorari on October 1, 2007. Pryor
subsequently filed a notion under 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255 in which he

faulted his appellate counsel for failing to voice the

3. Pryor did not challenge his sentence on direct appeal.
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unsupported contention that the jury at trial had received an
unredacted copy of the federal grand jury's indictnment. W
denied that notion, id., 2008 W. 3919356 (Aug. 26, 2008), after
whi ch the Court of Appeals declined to issue a certificate of
appeal ability.*

Ef f ecti ve Novenber 1, 2007, the Sentencing Conmmi ssion
adopt ed Anmendnent 706. This amended § 2D1.1 of the CGuidelines to
reduce the offense levels applied to many of fenses invol ving
cocai ne base. On Decenber 11, 2007, in Amendnent 712, the
Sent enci ng Conmmi ssi on ordered that Anendnment 706 apply
retroactively, effective March 3, 2008.

Title 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3582(c)(2) permts the reduction of a
def endant's sentence when he or she was "sentenced to a term of
i mpri sonnment based on a sentencing range that has subsequently

been | owered by the Sentencing Comm ssion ..." and where "such a
reduction is consistent with the applicable policy statenents

i ssued by the Sentencing Conm ssion.” 18 U S.C. 8 3582(c)(2);
US S.G 8§ 1B1.10(a). The Commission has clarified that "[a]
reduction in the defendant's term of inprisonnment is not

consistent with this policy statement and therefore is not

aut hori zed under 18 U S.C. 8 3582(c)(2) if ... an anendnent

4. Pryor's counsel for this notion is the sanme experienced
crimnal attorney who had represented himon his direct appeal
and whose conduct was the subject of Pryor's unsuccessful pro se
nmotion under 8§ 2255 in which Pryor clainmed ineffective assistance
of counsel. Neither Pryor nor counsel has suggested that this

hi story creates a conflict of interest or otherw se disqualifies
counsel fromcontinuing his representation of Pryor for present
pur poses.
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listed in subsection (c) does not have the effect of |owering the
defendant's applicable guideline range.” U S. S G
§ 1B1.10(a)(2)(B).

Pryor argues that he is entitled to relief because his
sentence was based in part on a downward departure under 8§ 4Al. 3,
which is in effect an acknow edgnent that a defendant's crim nal
hi story category substantially over-represents his crimnal
history. Had this case involved a straightforward departure of
that nature, Pryor m ght have been entitled to a reduction in

sentence. See United States v. MGee, 553 F.3d 225 (2d G r

2009); United States v. Poindexter, 550 F. Supp. 2d 578 (E.D. Pa.

2008); but see United States v. Mateo, --- F.3d ---, 2009 W

750411 (3d Cr. Mar. 24, 2009). In MGee and Poi ndexter, both of

whi ch invol ved "career offenders" appealing sentences inposed for
possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, the district
court departed downward under 8 4Al.3 and inposed a sentence
consistent with the guidelines range that woul d have applied had
t hose defendants not technically been career offenders. As such,
t he defendants were entitled to reductions because their
sentences were in effect "based on" the guidelines range
associated with their crack cocaine-related convictions that had

subsequently been | owered by Amendnent 706.°

5. Qur Court of Appeals in Mateo held that a defendant sentenced
as a career offender is not entitled to a reduction in sentence
even where the guidelines range associated with the underlying

of fense has been reduced by Anendnent 706. The Court did not
reach the question posed by McCGee and Poi ndexter, nanely, whether
such a defendant is entitled to a reduction where the sentencing

- 6-



Here, the court's downward departure was made under
Booker, not 8§ 4Al1.3(b), although it was based on the same
concern, nanely, that Pryor's "career offender” designation
produced a mani festly unjust sentencing range under the

guidelines. Unlike the defendants in McGee and Poi ndexter

however, Pryor was convicted of two separate firearns offenses
that each carried a far heavier sentence than did his drug
convictions. The court departed dowmward to a sentence slightly
above the high end of the guidelines range applicable to those
firearns of fenses in the absence of a "career offender”
designation. Anmendnent 706 affected that guidelines range only
insofar as it dictates that Pryor should have received an of fense
| evel of 18 rather than 20 for the grouped drug of fenses.
Because that reduced offense | evel would still have been within
five to eight levels of the nore serious offense |evel of 26,
stenming fromhis conviction for possession of a firearmby a
convicted felon, Pryor would have still received a one-|evel
addition and a conbi ned of fense | evel of 27. Likew se, Amendnent
706 does not affect the mandatory nature of the consecutive five-
year sentence inposed for using a firearmin furtherance of a
drug trafficking crinme.

In sum there is sinply no basis on which to concl ude

that Pryor's sentence was based even partially on a sentencing

court departed downward fromthe "career offender"” guidelines
range and instead i nposed a sentence based on the guidelines
range affected by Anendnent 706.
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range subsequently | owered by Anendnent 706. Accordingly, we
nmust deny his notion under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3582(c).



IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA ) CRI M NAL ACTI ON
. )
NAI M PRYOR NO. 03-349-1
ORDER

AND NOW this 23rd day of April, 2009, for the reasons
set forth in the acconpanyi ng Menorandum it is hereby ORDERED
that the notion of defendant Naim Pryor to correct, vacate, or
set aside his conviction and sentence pursuant to 18 U. S. C
§ 3582(c) is DEN ED.

BY THE COURT:

[s/ Harvey Bartle III

C. J.



